Restoration of Lake Hakanoa: Results of model simulations

CBER Contract Report 118

Prepared for Waikato District Council

By Wendy Paul, Chris McBride, David P. Hamilton, Aareka Hopkins and Deniz Özkundakci



Centre for Biodiversity and Ecology Research Department of Biological Sciences School of Science and Engineering The University of Waikato Private Bag 3105 Hamilton, 3240 New Zealand

12 May 2011





Table of contents

Executive Summary	3
Introduction	4
Methods	5
Site description	5
Modelling Methods	7
Meteorological data	7
Bathymetry	7
Water balance	8
Inflows	9
Initial Profile	9
Phytoplankton	9
Zooplankton	10
Suspended solids	10
Modelling scenarios	10
Results	14
Modelled results	14
Pasture to exotic forest scenario	15
Creation of a wetland that covers 3% of the catchment	15
Combined scenarios plus removal of septic tanks for 20 people	15
Discussion	24
References	26

Front cover - Photo: Wendy Paul

Figures

Figure 1. Land use for Lake Hakanoa catchment using the Land use Cover Database (LCDB) 2,
2002
Figure 2. Temperatures through the water column in Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26
August, 2010
Figure 3. Dissolved oxygen concentrations through the water column in Lake Hakanoa from 16
September, 2009 to 26 August, 2010
Figure 4. Secchi disk depths in Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 August, 201012
Figure 5. Chlorophyll <i>a</i> concentrations in Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 August,
2010
Figure 6. Total phosphorus and total nitrogen concentrations in Lake Hakanoa from 16 September,
2009 to 26 August, 2010
Figure 7. Filtered nutrient concentrations (NO ₃ -N, NH ₄ -N, PO ₄ -P) in Lake Hakanoa from 16
September, 2009 to 26 August, 2010
Figure 8. Total and inorganic suspended solids in Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26
August, 2010
Figure 9. Phytoplankton biovolume for the phyla in Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26
August, 2010
Figure 10. Zooplankton numbers by order in Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 July,
2010
Figure 11. Temperature and concentrations of water quality variables for Lake Hakanoa from 16
September, 2009 to 26 July, 2010 (observed) and modelled results: a) temperature b) dissolved
oxygen and c) chlorophyll a
Figure 12. Temperature and concentrations of water quality variables for Lake Hakanoa from 16
September, 2009 to 26 July, 2010 (observed) and modelled results for changing land use from
pastoral farming to exotic forest: a) temperature b) dissolved oxygen and c) chlorophyll a
Figure 13. Temperature and concentrations of water quality variables for Lake Hakanoa from 16
September, 2009 to 26 July, 2010 (observed) and modelled results for creation of a wetland that
covers 3% of the catchment: a) temperature b) dissolved oxygen and c) chlorophyll a
Figure 14. Concentrations of water quality variables for Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to
26 July, 2010 (observed) and modelled results for creation of a wetland that covers 3% of the
catchment, conversion of pastoral land to exotic forest and removal of septic tanks servicing 20
people: a)temperature b) dissolved oxygen and c) chlorophyll a

Reviewed by:

G W Cempos

Approved for release by:

1. Jake

University of Waikato

University of Waikato

Executive Summary

This report was requested by Waikato District Council. It covers the lake water quality of, and possible restoration scenarios for, Lake Hakanoa a riverine lake situated in Huntly. The lake is used as a recreational resource by the community. In the past it has been reported to have had very poor water quality and is known to be eutrophic. It is currently in an algal-dominated, devegetated state and has low water clarity. The shallowness of this lake makes it potentially susceptible to resuspension of sediments through wind action. A community group, Friends of Hakanoa, has been responsible for the formation of a path around the perimeter of the lake, retiring about 3.6% of the catchment from pastoral farming and creating a riparian margin. Results from more recent reports and this report indicate a trend of improving water quality which may be related to recent restoration actions such as re-establishment of a riparian margin.

After consideration of possible restoration scenarios applicable to Lake Hakanoa, two main scenarios were modelled; wetland creation and change of land use in the catchment from pastoral farming to exotic forestry. A third scenario combining those two actions and the removal of septic tanks was also modelled. Some scenarios were discounted for financial, cultural and practical reasons and thus were not modelled. These included removal of invasive fish, sediment removal and sediment capping with a chemical flocculant. Although experimental at this stage, an option that may also be considered by the council is the possibility of floating wetlands.

All modelled scenarios showed that there would be an improvement in lake water quality. The actual degree of improvement is not absolute since nutrient exports for exotic forestry in particular are variable. Nitrogen and phosphorus exports from exotic forestry are usually less than those from dairy farming and dry stock farming, and therefore, for each scenario of increased land use in forestry, there was an improvement in water quality.

The combination of land use change from pastoral to forestry, expansion of wetlands, and removal of septic tanks produced the best outcome in terms of water quality evaluated by trophic state, specifically, the Trophic Level Index (TLI). Based on these results it is clear that substantial improvements in lake water quality will only be possible with a substantial reduction in catchment nutrient export to the lake, and the council will need to consider incentives or legislation that will reduce the nutrient export. Investigation into incentives for conversion of pastoral land to exotic forestry, utilising the carbon credits scheme, are encouraged. Removal of septic tanks should not be discounted as means of improvement but we recommend that the status of septic tank usage in the catchment first be assessed. We recommend that the council gains professional advice on the best methods to form a treatment wetland as their effect can be enhanced by appropriate design and use of nutrient-adsorbing materials.

Introduction

Lake Hakanoa is one of the Lower Waikato riverine lakes (Hamill, 2006) formed through volcanic activity, floods and changes in the course of Waikato River over 14,000 years ago (McCraw, 2002).

The lake was classified as hypertrophic with a trophic level index (TLI) of 6.7 in 2006 (Hamill, 2006). It has frequent cyanobacterial blooms (Hudson et al., 2008) and is likely to be in a devegetated state (Edwards et al., 2007) being rated as having a 'poor' LakeSPI classification (Hamill, 2006). Accelerated eutrophication through human activity, herbicide spraying, and subsequent collapse of invasive submerged macrophytes contribute to the present algal-dominated, turbid state of this lake (Champion et al., 1993). Lake Hakanoa supports invasive fish species also known to contribute to poor water quality (Hudson et al., 2008). The maximum lake depth is 2.5 m (Hamill, 2006), the area is 0.56 km², and thus the lake is likely to be susceptible to resuspension of sediments through wind action.

A community group, Friends of Hakanoa, has been responsible for the formation of a 3.62 km path around the perimeter of lake. The riparian margin was to be completed by the end of 2004 (Environment Waikato, 2002) and is continually being improved with landscaping and planting by this group (Waikato Enterprise Agency, 2010).

This report gives the water quality results measured in Lake Hakanoa from September 2009 to August 2010 and reports on the results of various restoration scenarios using the one-dimensional water quality model DYRESM-CAEDYM (DYnamic REServoir Simulation Model - Computational Aquatic Ecosystem DYnamics Model). A focus was placed on modelling of two scenarios which included wetland creation over about 3% of the catchment and a change of land use in the catchment from pastoral farming to exotic forestry. A third scenario combined these two actions and the removal of septic tanks also.

Methods

Site description

Lake Hakanoa is close to Huntly township, with a park domain, motor camp, walkway and various plantings adjacent to the lake. It has become a focal point for recreational walkers, boaters, picnickers and coarse fishers. The 5.5 km² catchment supports a small area of native bush, urban housing, commercial and industrial properties and pastoral (mainly sheep and cattle) farmland. There is a small willow-dominated wetland adjacent to the southern end of the lake which intercepts flow from the built-up area. Based on Jenkins & Vant (2007) the land use composition of the Lake Hakanoa catchment is 55.8% pastoral, with 21.4% dairy and 34.4% drystock in the catchment. For the rest of the catchment 10% was indigenous forest, 2% was exotic forest, 17% was scrubland and 16% was urban land (Jenkins & Vant, 2007; Figure 1). There are three permanent and two ephemeral inflows and a number of minor flows and seeps into Lake Hakanoa, and one outflow from Lake Hakanoa and into Waikato River.

A mid-lake sampling station was located at the deepest point near the centre of the lake, located at 37.54806S 175.6022E. Sampling was conducted monthly. Secchi disk depth readings for water clarity were taken on the sunny side of the boat using a black and white Secchi disk and an underwater viewer. Water samples for total and dissolved nutrients, total and inorganic suspended solids, phytoplankton, zooplankton and chlorophyll *a* were collected with a Schindler-Patellas trap at 0.5 m depth. Samples for chlorophyll a and filtered nutrients were filtered on site through a 0.45 µm glass fibre filter (GC50, Advantec) using a Swinnex filter holder and syringe. Dissolved oxygen concentrations and water temperature within the lake were measured using a Yellow Springs Instrument dissolved oxygen meter (Model 30) at 0.4 m intervals through the depth of the water column. Water samples were placed on ice and returned to the laboratory where samples were frozen until analysis. Nutrient analyses were performed using a discrete analyser, (Aquakem 200 Cd, Finland). Analyses for ammonium (NH₄-N), nitrite (NO₂-N), oxidized nitrogen (NO₂-N + NO₃-N) and dissolved reactive phosphorus (PO₄-P) were carried out using the standard Aquakem methods and total nitrogen (TN) and total phosphorus (TP) were analysed using modified EPA Methods 365.3 and 353.1. Water samples were analysed for total and inorganic suspended solids according to a method adapted from HACH (2008) and APHA (2005). Chlorophyll a samples were analysed according to an acetone-extraction protocol adapted from Arar and Collins (1997), APHA (1995), Hauer and Lamberti (1996) and Wetzel and Likens (1990), suing a 10 AU Fluorometer (Turner designs). The trophic level index (TLI), an indicator of lake water quality was calculated according to Burns et al. (2000) using TN, TP, chlorophyll a concentrations and Secchi depth. Phytoplankton samples were preserved with Lugol's iodine were analysed according to methods adapted from Hötzel & Croome (1999) and USEPA (2007). Zooplankton samples were collected by pouring a known quantity of water from the Schindler-Patellas trap through a 40 µm zooplankton net and preserving with 70% ethanol. Samples were enumerated by order.

The five inflows and one outflow were sampled on the same days as the lake. The locations of the inflows are given in Table 1. For the inflows, flow was gauged using a Marsh-McBirney flow meter. Dissolved oxygen and temperature were measured with a Yellow Springs Instrument dissolved oxygen meter (Model 30). Water samples were collected for nutrient and suspended sediment concentrations and analysed by the same methods as those used for lake samples. For the outflow, flow was measured by the same means as the inflows and the height of the outflow was measured.



Figure 1. Land use for Lake Hakanoa catchment using the Land use Cover Database (LCDB) 2, 2002.

	Description	GPS	GPS
		S deg	E deg
Flow 1	Drain, S side of domain	37.76511	175.1917
Flow 2	Culvert, Rayner St, 100 m from Starr St	37.56202	175.1686
Flow 3	Culvert, Rayner St, further east from Site 2	37.55803	175.1751
Flow 4	End of Rayner Rd, down in valley	37.55706	175.1789
Flow 5	End of James St, valley	37.55289	175.1783
Outflow	Near caravan park entrance	37.55048	175.1604

Table 1. Locations of inflows and outflow to Lake Hakanoa.

Modelling Methods

DYRESM (DYnamic REServoir Simulation Model) is a one-dimensional model which simulates the vertical distribution of temperature, salinity and density. The foundation for DYRESM is a horizontal layer structure that changes according to heat, mass and momentum exchanges (Imberger & Patterson, 1981; Gal et al., 2003). CAEDYM (Computational Aquatic Ecosystem DYnamics Model), is an ecological model which is coupled with DYRESM and used to simulate phytoplankton biomass, DO, nitrogen, phosphorus and carbon, using partial differential equations that utilise rate constants (Robson and Hamilton, 2004). These equations and constants are manipulated by the modeller whilst being maintained within realistic limits for the ecological rates being simulated. In the model, the lake bottom is the repository for particulate matter and acts as a source of dissolved nutrients generated according to the physical nature of the water column and of particulate matter based on shear stress; a function of lake morphology and wind speed. The DYRESM-CAEDYM model was run with daily input data, including inflows, outflows and meteorology, from 16 September 2009 to 15 September 2010.

Meteorological data

Daily meteorological data required as input to the DYRESM-CAEDYM model were taken from the Te Akatea Station, Ruakura, Whatawhata and Hamilton Aero (Hamilton Airport) weather stations. The data sets for cloud cover (CC) and air pressure (e_s) were taken from Hamilton Aero; wind speed (u_0) was taken from Whatawhata; rainfall (m) from Te Akatea Station, solar radiation (SW: shortwave), air temperature (T_{air}) and relative humidity from Ruakura. Daily averages were used for all meteorological data except rainfall for which the sum of daily rainfall was used.

Evaporation data from pastures in the Waikato region (Rukuhia, 10 km south of Hamilton; Scott Farm, 7 km east of Hamilton) were used to calculate evaporation rates within the catchment (McAneney et al., 1982; Dave Campbell, unpub; Kuske, 2009).

Bathymetry

The morphometry of Lake Hakanoa was determined on 7 May 2010, by surveying the lake in a boat with a depth sonar and simultaneously recording the GPS location using a Garmin GPS receiver. The edge co-ordinates for the lake were recorded from Google Earth 2010. These data were used as input to ArcGIS to produce a bathymetric map of the lake and find the volume and area of the lake at each height measured. The greatest lake depth measured during the bathymetry survey was used as a datum to calculate monthly lake heights using the change in depth at the outlet.

Water balance

Lake volume was determined from the bathymetric data with linear interpolation used to provide a coherent coverage over the whole lake. Change in lake water storage ($\Delta V/t$) was calculated as the difference in lake volume from one day to the next.

A combination of water balance equations for the catchment and for the lake was used to resolve the values for the different components of the lake water balance.

Groundwater inflow from the catchment to the lake was calculated using:

$$GI = R_{c} - E_{c} - SI \tag{1}$$

To rectify numerical problems of occasional negative groundwater inflow values it was necessary to use a 75-day moving average, as well as including an offset value and multiplier to return the original yearly value and retain the general shape of the curve. We interpret this time frame as indicative of the lag between rainfall on the catchment and its transport to the lake as groundwater.

Outflow from the lake was calculated using:

$$\mathbf{O} = \mathbf{SI} + \mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{L}} + \mathbf{GI} + \Delta \mathbf{V}/\mathbf{t} - \mathbf{E}_{\mathrm{L}}$$
(2)

Where GI is the groundwater inflow to the lake, R_c is the rainfall on the lake, E_c is the evaporation from the catchment, SI is the surface inflow to the lake, R_L is the rainfall on the lake, $\Delta V/t$ is the change of lake volume over time and E_L is the evaporation from the lake.

Evaporation from the lake was calculated as a function of wind speed and air vapour pressure from the daily average evaporative heat flux (Fischer et al., 1979, Eq. 6.20) using data from Ruakura, Whatawhata and Hamilton Aero weather stations and water temperatures from the surface measurements at the mid-lake sampling station.

$$Q_{lh} = \min\left(0 \ge \frac{0.622}{p} C_L \rho_A L_E U_\alpha (e_\alpha - e_s(T_s)) \Delta t\right)$$
(3)

where:

 Q_{lh} is the evaporative heat flux in J m⁻² s⁻¹,

P is the atmospheric pressure in hPa,

 C_L is the latent heat transfer coefficient for wind speed at height 10m (1.3 x 10⁻³),

 ρ_A is the density of air in kg m⁻³,

 L_E is the latent heat evaporation of water (2.453 x 10⁶ J kg⁻¹),

 U_a is the wind speed in at 10 m height above ground level in m s⁻¹,

 $e_s(T_s)$ the saturation vapour pressure at the water surface temperature in hPa,

 e_a is the vapour pressure of the air in hPa.

The condition that $Q_{lh} < 0$ allows for inclusion of when there is condensation on the water surface. The saturated vapour pressure $e_s(T_s)$ is calculated via the Magnus-Tetens formula (TVA, 1972, Eq. 4.1):

$$e_s(T_S) = exp\left(2.3026\left(\frac{7.5T_S}{T_S + 237.3} + 0.7858\right)\right)$$
(4)

Where T_s is the water surface temperature in °C.

The change in mass in the surface layer (layer N) due to latent heat flux is calculated as

$$\Delta M_N^{\rm Ih} = \frac{-Q_{\rm Ih}A_N}{L_V} \tag{5}$$

where:

 ΔM_N^{IA} is the change in mass in kg s⁻¹ (assumed to be L s⁻¹), A_N is the surface area of the lake in m², and L_V is the latent heat of vaporisation for water (2.258 x 10⁶ J kg⁻¹).

The result of this calculation was multiplied by 86400 s day⁻¹ to produce a daily evaporation value (E_L) .

For evaporation from the catchment an evaporation curve was derived from the data in McAneney et al. (1982) with daily values derived using linear interpolation, to gain a percent of the total evaporation that is typically found over Waikato pasture each day. The evaporation rate was then calculated as the percent of total evaporation day⁻¹ and multiplied by 71 percent of the total rainfall yr^{-1} , approximating the values found by Campbell (unpub.) and Kuske (2009).

Inflows

Whilst measurements were made monthly for the inflows for volume of water day⁻¹, temperature, dissolved oxygen, suspended solids and nutrients, input to the model required daily values for several variables. Missing values for daily volume of water in the inflows were derived by linear interpolation between the measured values. To estimate temperature values, a regression analysis was performed between the measured values in each inflow and a preceding three-day average of the air temperature, then the resulting regression equation used to obtain the missing data. Values for dissolved oxygen concentrations between the measured values were estimated as a function of water temperature using the model of Mortimer (1981) which is based on data from Benson and Krause (1980). Nutrient and suspended sediment concentrations were a result of linear interpolation between the results. Groundwater inflow volumes for each day were calculated as the unknown term in the catchment water balance (Eq. 1); all other values were calculated as the average of the other inflows.

Initial Profile

The depth and temperature for the initial profile were measured with a Yellow Springs Instruments dissolved oxygen meter (Model 30) at 0.4 m intervals through the depth of the water column on 16 September, 2009.

Phytoplankton

Two phytoplankton groups, represented by equivalent chlorophyll *a* concentration, were simulated in the model. This simulation represents phytoplankton as a cyanobacteria group and as 'other' groups representing all remaining phytoplankton taxa. Initial lake water column concentrations of

chlorophyll *a* for each phytoplankton group were determined from biovolumes to estimate their relative proportion and chl *a* concentrations at several depths.

Zooplankton

The zooplankton data were not used in the model.

Suspended solids

Total suspended solids (SSOL) has been integrated into the model because of their potential impacts in shallow lakes like Lake Hakanoa. For example, SSOL affects the temperature profile through increased attenuation of light which in turn affects a lake's heat budget (Sullivan et al., 2006). The initial concentration of suspended solids was taken from the samples collected on the first day.

Modelling scenarios

We assumed values for nutrient losses from dairy pasture on Waikato farms as 19.4 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and 1.1 kg P ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Wilcock, 1986; Judge & Ledgard, 2004; Wheeler & Elliot, 2008), and from dry stock of 5 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and 0.77 kg P ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Judge & Ledgard, 2004; Jenkins & Vant, 2007). The losses from exotic forestry systems in New Zealand were estimated as 0.08 kg P ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ and 7.56 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (Wilcock, 1986; Cooper & Thomsen, 1988; Parfitt et al., 2003; Elliot et al., 2005).

Three restoration scenarios were simulated. The first was conversion of all pastoral land within the lake catchment to exotic forest. Using the values above, it was estimated that this land use change would result in a 22% reduction in total nitrogen (TN) and 72% reduction in total phosphorus (TP) in the nutrient loads of the inflows.

The second scenario was the construction of a wetland covering 3% of the catchment, estimated to reduce TN entering the wetland by 60% and particulate phosphorus by 65% (Hudson et al., 2008). The number of residents and septic tanks in the catchment are unknown. It was estimated that 20 people were using septic tanks, and we assumed each person was responsible for 3.65 kg yr⁻¹ N and 0.37 kg yr⁻¹ P (John McIntosh, pers. comm.). This equates to only 2% of the calculated nutrient export for both TN and TP.

The third scenario included the combination of conversion of pastoral land to exotic forest, a wetland covering 3% of the catchment, and removal of septic tanks servicing 20 people. In order to combine these three actions, nutrient load reductions due to septic tank removal and pasture conversion were absolute, whereas the percentage reduction due to wetland construction was applied to the reduced nutrient load after the two catchment modifications.

Results

Water temperatures ranged from 8.19°C in the bottom waters on 26 August, 2010 to 24.4°C through the water column on 15 February, 2009 (Figure 2). The lake was almost always isothermal (i.e. vertically uniform temperature) throughout the entire sampling period.

Dissolved oxygen concentrations ranged from 4.9 mg L^{-1} in the bottom waters on 15 February, 2009 to 14 mg L^{-1} in the surface waters on 26 August, 2010 (Figure 3). There was a small decrease in dissolved oxygen concentration with depth in the water column.

Secchi disk depths were less than 1 m for the entire sampling period, ranging from 0.29 to 0.61 m. Clarity was greatest during October and November 2009 and least in February 2010 (Figure 4). There was a general inverse relationship of Secchi depth with chlorophyll *a* concentrations (Figure 5). Chlorophyll *a* concentrations ranged from 36.5 μ g L⁻¹ in January to 4.6 μ g L⁻¹ in May (Figure 5).

Total nutrient concentrations are shown in Figure 6. Total phosphorus (TP) concentrations ranged from 0.016 mg L⁻¹ on 6 October 2009 to 0.073 mg L⁻¹ on 14 December 2009. Total phosphorus followed a similar pattern to total nitrogen (TN) concentrations. Total nitrogen concentrations ranged from 0.37 mg L⁻¹ on 12 October, 2009 to 0.72 mg L⁻¹ on 13 January 2010. The average TN:TP ratio was 18:1 by mass. Filtered nutrient concentrations are shown in Figure 7. There was very little or no nitrate (as NO₃-N) with the exception of 29 June 2009 when the concentration was 39 mg m⁻³. Phosphate (PO₄-P) concentrations ranged from 0.0024 mg L⁻¹ to 0.005 mg L⁻¹ for most of the year with the exception of 0.008 mg L⁻¹ in October and November 2009. Ammonium (NH₄-N) concentrations decreased from 0.032 mg L⁻¹ in September to 0.010 mg L⁻¹ on 26 August 2010. Suspended solid concentrations are shown in Figure 8. SSOL concentrations ranged from 18 mg L⁻¹ in September to 44 mg L⁻¹ in December 2009. Inorganic suspended solid (ISS) concentrations followed a similar pattern to total suspended solid concentrations (SSOL). The inorganic fraction amounted to 47 – 72 % of the SSOL and ranged from 11 mg L⁻¹ in October 2009 and May 2010 to 28 mg L⁻¹ in November 2009.

The average TLI score, based on concentrations of TN, TP and Chl *a*, and Secchi disk, was 4.99 over twelve months which classifies this lake as eutrophic according to the criteria of Burns et al. (2000).



Figure 2. Temperatures through the water column in Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 August, 2010.



Figure 3. Dissolved oxygen concentrations through the water column in Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 August, 2010.



Figure 4. Secchi disk depths in Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 August, 2010.



Figure 5. Chlorophyll a concentrations in Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 August, 2010.



Figure 6. Total phosphorus and total nitrogen concentrations in Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 August, 2010.



Figure 7. Filtered nutrient concentrations (NO₃-N, NH₄-N, PO₄-P) in Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 August, 2010.



Figure 8. Total and inorganic suspended solids in Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 August, 2010.



Figure 9. Phytoplankton biovolume for the phyla in Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 August, 2010.



Figure 10. Zooplankton numbers by order in Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 July, 2010.

Modelled Results

Calibration

The field data that the model was calibrated against were measured from September 2009 to August 2010. Figures 11 to 14 provide a visual comparison of the closeness of fit between the model and measurements. Temperature and dissolved oxygen are aligned but the other variables are not always so closely matched.

The modelled and observed temperatures of Lake Hakanoa consistently showed a fully mixed water column over the study period. Simulated temperatures ranged from 29.8 °C in January to 8.1 °C in

July (Figure 11a) which was consistent with the measured water temperatures. The difference between simulated and measured values is generally < 1 °C.

The modelled and observed results show a difference in dissolved oxygen concentration of generally $<1 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$ between the 0.4 m and 1.2 m depths for the study period (Figure 11b). The modelled results for DO concentrations followed a similar pattern to the observed measurements. There is an average of 4% difference between the observed and modelled results.

The modelled chlorophyll *a* concentrations range from 1.4 to 17.2 μ g L⁻¹ Although there is a good match between most observed and modelled chlorophyll *a* results, the model does not align with the some of the measured concentrations of chlorophyll *a* over the summer months (Figure 11c).

The modelled SSOL results range from 1.3 to 23.8 mg L^{-1} and concentrations follow a similar pattern to the observed results with the exception of the last three months (Figure 11d).

Modeled results for TP range from 0.01 to 0.03 mg L^{-1} and are fairly closely matched with, and follow the same trend as, the observed results with the exception of the December result (Figure 11e).

Modeled results for TN concentrations range from 0.2 to 0.5 mg L^{-1} and, on average, are close to the observed results. With the exception of the August result, the modelled results follow a similar pattern to the observed results (Figure 11f).

Pasture to exotic forest scenario

Changing pastoral land to exotic forestry made a negligible difference to the temperature and dissolved oxygen concentrations in Lake Hakanoa (Figures 12a and 12b) compared with the calibration and the observed results. In relation to the scenarios, when nutrient reductions were made to represent a change from pastoral land use to exotic forestry, chlorophyll *a* concentrations decreased by an average of 30% (Figure12c), concentrations of SSOL decreased by an average of 29% (Figure 12d), TP concentrations decreased by an average of 36% (Figure 12e), and TN concentrations decreased by an average of 8% (Figure 12f).

Creation of a wetland that covers 3% of the catchment

Creating a wetland that covers 3% of the Lake Hakanoa catchment made very little difference to the temperature and dissolved oxygen concentrations in Lake Hakanoa (Figures 13a and 13b) against the calibrated and observed results. In relation to the calibrated results, when nutrient reductions were made to simulate the creation of a wetland covering 3% of the Lake Hakanoa catchment chlorophyll *a* concentrations decreased by an average of 31% (Figure 13c), concentrations of SSOL by an average of 26% (Figure 13d), TP by an average of 37% (Figure 13e), and TN by an average of 21% (Figure 13f).

Combined scenarios plus removal of septic tanks for 20 people

Changing pastoral land to exotic forestry, creating a wetland that covers 3% of the Lake Hakanoa catchment and removal of septic tanks servicing twenty people again made very little difference to the temperature and dissolved oxygen concentrations in simulations of Lake Hakanoa (Figures 14a and 14b). In relation to the calibrated results, this combined scenario decreased chlorophyll *a* concentrations by an average of 42% (Figure 14c), SSOL concentrations by 32% (Figure 14d), TP concentrations by 50% (Figure 14e), and TN concentrations by 24% (Figure 14f).



Figure 11. Temperature and concentrations of water quality variables for Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 July, 2010 (observed) and modelled results: a) temperature b) dissolved oxygen and c) chlorophyll *a*.



Figure 12 (cont.). Concentrations of water quality variables for Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 July, 2010 (observed) and modelled results: d) suspended solids e) total phosphorus and f) total nitrogen.







Figure 14 (cont.). Concentrations of water quality variables for Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 July, 2010 (observed) and modelled results for changing land use from pastoral farming to exotic forest: d) suspended solids e) total phosphorus and f) total nitrogen.



Figure 15. Temperature and concentrations of water quality variables for Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 July, 2010 (observed) and modelled results for creation of a wetland that covers 3% of the catchment: a) temperature b) dissolved oxygen and c) chlorophyll *a*.



Figure 16 (cont.). Concentrations of water quality variables for Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 July, 2010 (observed) and modelled results for creation of a wetland that covers 3% of the catchment: d) suspended solids e) total phosphorus and f) total nitrogen.



Figure 17. Concentrations of water quality variables for Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 July, 2010 (observed) and modelled results for creation of a wetland that covers 3% of the catchment, conversion of pastoral land to exotic forest and removal of septic tanks servicing 20 people: a)temperature b) dissolved oxygen and c) chlorophyll *a*.



Figure 18 (cont.). Concentrations of water quality variables for Lake Hakanoa from 16 September, 2009 to 26 July, 2010 (observed) and modelled results for creation of a wetland that covers 3% of the catchment, conversion of pastoral land to exotic forest and removal of septic tanks servicing 20 people: d) suspended solids e) total phosphorus and f) total nitrogen.

Discussion

After visual assessment of 2002 and 2007 data collected from Lake Hakanoa, sourced mostly from Environment Waikato, Hudson et al. (2008) considered that water quality was improving, with nutrient concentrations and chlorophyll *a* decreasing over time and clarity increasing. Our results reveal similar trends for nutrients and chlorophyll *a* concentrations as those found in 2007, but with further decreases in TN concentrations. This may be consistent with retirement of land around the riparian margin for plantings and increased replacement of mostly pastoral land use by suburban land use within the catchment. When we simulated a 75 m wide riparian margin and 2.7 km lake perimeter, the area encompassed was 3.6 percent of the 5.5 km² catchment. This change would be likely to improve (reduce) the TLI value.

As it is shallow, Lake Hakanoa does not stratify to any great extent (Figure 1; Hudson et al., 2008). Being shallow does, however, make the lake prone to sediment resuspension through wind generated wave action (Figure 8; Nixdorf & Denke, 1997) especially since it is in a devegetated state. Resuspension of sediments most commonly occurs in shallow lakes due to benthic shear stress (Hamilton & Mitchell, 1997). Intense mixing, as a result of convective heat exchanges (Spigel & Imberger, 1987) may also penetrate the sediments and entrain nutrient-rich sediment porewaters, particularly in winter when overlying water is likely to be cooler than the temperature of the bottom sediments. The resulting entrainment of pore-waters would ensure both a light climate and nutrient supply to phytoplankton, rendering restorative measures less effective under this condition of high internal nutrient loading (Nixdorf & Denke, 1997).

Two main restoration scenarios were considered for this project, namely change of land use in the catchment from pastoral farming to exotic forestry and creation of a wetland that covers 3% of the catchment. The decreases in chlorophyll a, suspended solids and TP were very similar for these two scenarios. The wetland option resulted in a greater decrease in TN concentrations compared to changing land use from pastoral farming to exotic forestry. The nutrient exports used to model the change in land use scenario were estimated from New Zealand studies, with the main focus on the Waikato region and with the wetland scenario values specific to Lake Hakanoa (Hudson et al., 2008). Nutrient exports under different land uses can vary widely depending on, tree harvesting and regeneration stages, soil type and topography (Hamilton, 2005), dry and wet years (Quinn and Stroud, 2002) and stocking rates (Wilcock et al., 1999). Nitrogen exports from exotic forestry have been found to vary from 1.31 to 21 kg N ha-¹ yr⁻¹ (Cooper and Thomsen, 1988; Parfitt et al., 2003). Phosphorus export from exotic forestry ranges from 0.095 to 0.1 kg P ha-¹ yr⁻¹ (Wilcock, 1986; Cooper and Thomsen, 1988) and varies similarly on a relative scale to nitrogen (Cooper and Thomsen, 1988). It is, however, anticipated that both scenarios would improve the state of the lake despite difficulty in prescribing absolute export values (Figs 11 and 12). Changing from pastoral farming to exotic forestry would remove the nitrate leached from domestic animal urine patches (Menneer et al., 2004) and there would be less particulate phosphorus attached to soil particles during periods of tree growth, as soil disturbance is an issue with pastoral farming (Wilcock et al., 1999). Exotic forestry nutrient exports can be variable and harvesting can cause major soil disturbance (Quinn & Stroud, 2002; Abell et al., 2011) but these can also be managed through the use of riparian buffers at critical source points (Fennessy & Cronk, 1997; Quinn, 2005).

Wetlands are efficient at capturing sediment from the catchment and nutrient uptake by the wetland plants. Wetlands need careful planning and construction to be effective, as once a wetland becomes anoxic that inorganic phosphorus can be released from the sediment (Tanner et al., 2005). Tanner et al., (2005; 2009) have formulated methods for construction of wetlands that incorporate chemicals that adsorb phosphorus and systems that aerate the water. Floating wetlands are a new technology

under experimentation and may be worth investigating as a restoration measure (Hudson et al., 2008).

Other scenarios were examined but were not considered viable. Sediment removal and deepening of the lake would likely have a positive effective but would likely result in spoil containing elevated levels of heavy metals and requiring disposal to landfill or extensive areas for disposal, which would be very expensive (Faithfull et al., 2005). Sediment capping with a chemical flocculant as a means of 'locking up' phosphorus is another possibility but since this lake is continuously mixed and does not appear to become anoxic in bottom waters, it would necessitate sufficient doses of flocculant to be effective over a considerable depth of the sediments (10 cm or more depth), which would also necessitate considerable expense (Søndergaard et al., 2003). Aeration with a destratifier would not be effective since the lake does not stratify. Fish removal would be another option but the community wishes to retain its recreational coarse fishing activities (Hudson et al., 2008).

More frequent data collection over another year would improve the calibration and increase the validity of the modeled outputs. The council may wish to consider creation of a wetland in the immediate future and potentially to use incentives or legislation to cap nutrient export for the future. Incentives for conversion of pastoral land to exotic forestry utilising the carbon credits scheme may be worthwhile and could be examined for its economic viability, i.e., to provide an economically viable change in land use of benefit to lake water quality. Planting of permanent vegetation would be advantageous in key source areas where forest operations were undertaken, should exotic forests be harvested and planted. Removal of septic tanks should also be used to improve water quality but would first require an inventory of septic tank use around the catchment. We recommend that the council gains professional advice on the best methods to create additional treatment wetlands as their effect can be enhanced by proper design and use of adsorption materials in some cases.

References

- Abell, J.M., Özkundakci, D., Hamilton, D.P., Miller, S.D. 2011. Relationships between land use and nitrogen and phosphorus in New Zealand lakes. *Marine and Freshwater Research* 62: 162-175.
- Arar, E.J., Collins, G.B. 1997. In vitro determination of Chlorophyll a and Pheophytin a in marine and freshwater algae by fluorescence, *Method 445.0, Revision 1.2*, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati. 22 p.
- Benson, B.B., Krause, D. Jr. 1980. The concentration and isotopic fractionation of gases dissolved in fresh water in equilibrium with the atmosphere. 1. Oxygen. *Limnology and Oceanography* 25:662-671.
- Burns, N., Bryers, G., Bowman, E. 2000. Protocol for monitoring trophic levels of New Zealand lakes and reservoirs. *Lakes Consulting Client Report 99/2*. Lakes Consulting, Pauanui, New Zealand. 122 p.
- Champion, P.D., de Winton, M.D., de Lange, P.J. 1993. The vegetation of the lower Waikato lakes.
 Volume 2. Vegetation of thirty-eight lakes in the lower Waikato. *NIWA Ecosystems Publication No.8.* National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Research, Hamilton. 133 p.
- Cooper, A.B., Thomsen, C.E. 1988. Nitrogen and phosphorus in streamwaters from adjacent pasture, pine and native forest catchments. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research* 22: 279–291.
- de Winton M., Dugdale T., Clayton J. 2003. Coarse fish: the demise of plants and malaise of lakes? Conference Proceedings: Managing invasive freshwater fish in NZ. Proceedings of a workshop hosted by DOC, 10-12 May 2001, Hamilton. Pp.59-69
- Eaton, A.D., Clesceri, L.S., Rice E.W., Greenberg, A.E. (Eds) 2005. APHA 2540D In: Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater. 21st Ed. American Public Health Association, American Water Works Association, Water Environment Federation.
- Edwards, T., Clayton, J., de Winton, M. 2007. The condition of 41 lakes in the Waikato Region using LakeSPI. *NIWA Client Report: HAM2007-108*. National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Research, Hamilton.
- Environment Waikato. 2002. *Council funds for Hakanoa walkway*. Retrieved from the World-wide web on 29/09/10. http://www.ew.govt.nz/News-and-events/Media-releases-archived/Council-funds-for-Hakanoa-Walkway/
- Elliott, A.H., Alexander, R.B., Schwarz, G.E., Shankar, U., Sukias, J.P.S., McBride, G.B. 2005. Estimation of nutrient sources and transport for New Zealand using the hybrid mechanisticstatistical model SPARROW. *Journal of Hydrology* (NZ) 44: 1–27.

- Faithfull, C.L., Hamilton, D.P., Burger, D.F., Duggan, I. 2005. Waikato peat lakes sediment nutrient removal scoping exercise. *CBER Contract Report No.* 78, a report prepared for Environment Waikato. Hamilton, New Zealand: Centre for Biodiversity and Ecology Research, Department of Biological Sciences, School of Science and Engineering, The University of Waikato.
- Fennessy, M.S., Cronk, J.K. 1997. The effectiveness and restoration potential of riparian ecotones for the management of nonpoint source pollution, particularly nitrate. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology 27: 4, 285–317.
- HACH Company, 2008. Methods 8158 and 8164. In :HACH Water Analysis Handbook, 5th edition, Loveland, Colorado, USA.
- Gal, G., Imberger, J., Zohary, T., Antenucci, J.P., Anis, A., Rosenberg, T., 2003, Simulating the thermal dynamics of Lake Kinneret. *Ecological Modelling* 162: 69-86.
- Hamill, K. 2006. Snapshot of lake water quality in New Zealand. *Opus International Client Report*, Ref. ME776. Ministry for the Environment, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Hamilton D.P., Mitchell, S.F. 1997. Wave-induced shear stresses, plant nutrients and chlorophyll in seven shallow lakes. *Freshwater Biology* 38: 159-168.
- Hamilton, D. 2005. Land use impacts on nutrient export in the Central Volcanic Plateau, North Island. New Zealand Journal of Forestry, 49: 27-31.
- Hamill, K., Lew, D. 2006. *Snapshot of Lake Water Quality in New Zealand*, Ministry for the Environment, Wellington, New Zealand.
- Hötzel, G., Croome, R. 1999. A Phytoplankton Method Manual for Australian Freshwaters. Land and Water Resources Research and Development Corporation Occasional Paper 22/99, Canberra, Australia. 58 pp.
- Imberger J., Patterson J.C. 1981. A Dynamic reservoir simulation Model ~ DYRESM: 5 In: H.B.Fischer (Editor), In: *Transport Models for Inland and Coastal Waters*, Academic Press, New York, pp. 310-361.
- Jenkins, B., Vant, B. 2007. Potential for Reducing the Nutrient Loads from the Catchments of Shallow Lakes in the Waikato Region. *Environment Waikato Technical Report 2006/54*, Environment Waikato.
- Hauer, F.R., Lamberti, G.A. (eds.). 1996. Methods in Stream Ecology. Academic Press, San Diego. Pp. 295-314.
- Hudson, N., Quinn, J., Rowe, D., Tanner, C. de Winton, M. 2008. Review of options for improving the condition of Lake Hakanoa. *NIWA Client Report: HAM2008-067*. National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Research, Hamilton.

- Judge, A.A, Ledgard, S.F. 2004. Nutrient budgets for Waikato dairy and sheep/beef farms for 1997/98 and 2002/03. *Environment Waikato Technical Report 2004/19*. Environment Waikato.
- Kuske, T.J. 2009. Fluxes of energy and water vapour from grazed pasture on a mineral soil in the Waikato. *MSc thesis*, University of Waikato, New Zealand.
- Ledgard, S., Power, I. 2006. Nitrogen and phosphorus losses from "average farms" in the Waikato region to waterways as affected by best or potential management practices. *Technical Report* 2006/37, Environment Waikato, Hamilton, New Zealand.
- McAneney, K.J., Judd, M.J., Weeda, W.C. 1982. Loss in monthly pasture production resulting from dryland conditions in the Waikato. *New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research* 25: 152-156.
- McCraw, J. 2002. Physical environment. In: Clarkson, B., Merrett, M., Downs, T. (compilers) *Botany of Waikato*. Waikato Botanical Society Inc., Hamilton, New Zealand.
- Menneer J.C., Ledgard S.F., Gillingham A.G. 2004. Land Use Impacts on Nitrogen and Phosphorus Loss and Management Options for Intervention, *Client report* prepared for Environment Bay of Plenty. Environment Bay of Plenty, Whakatane, New Zealand.
- Mortimer C.H. 1981. The oxygen content of air saturated fresh waters over the ranges of temperature and atmospheric pressure of limnological interest. *Mitt. Int. Ver. Theor. Angew. Limnol.* 22: 1-23.
- Nixdorf B., Deneke R. 1997. Why 'very shallow' lakes are more successful opposing reduced nutrient loads. *Hydrobiologia* 342/343: 269-284.
- Parfitt, R.L., Scott, N.A., Ross, D.J., Salt, G.J., Tate, K.R. 2003. Land-use change effects on soil C and N transformations in soils of high N status: comparisions under indigenous forest, pasture and pine plantation. *Biogeochemistry* 66: 203-221.
- Quinn, J.M., Stroud, M.J. 2002. Water quality and sediment and nutrient export from New Zealand hill-land catchments of contrasting land use. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research* 36: 409–429.
- Quinn, J. 2005. Effects of rural land use (especially forestry) and riparian management on stream habitat. *New Zealand Journal of Forestry* 49: 16–19.
- Robson B.J., Hamilton D.P. 2004, Three-dimensional modelling of a Microcystis bloom event in the Swan River estuary, Western Australia. *Ecological Modelling* 174/1-2: 203-222
- Søndergaard, M., Jensen, J.P., Jeppesen, E. 2003. Role of sediment and internal loading of phosphorus shallow lakes. *Hydrobiologia* 506-509: 135-145.
- Spigel, R.H., Imberger, J. 1987. Mixing processes relevant to phytoplankton dynamics in lakes. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research* 21: 361-377.

- Sullivan, A.B., Rounds, S.A., Uhrich, M.A., Bragg, H.M. 2006. Modelling suspended sediment and water temperature in Detroit Lake, Oregon. Proceedings of the Eighth Federal Interagency Sedimentation Conference, Reno, Nevada, April 2-6, 2006.
- Tanner, C.C., Sukias, J.P.S., Yates, C. 2009. New Zealand guidelines for constructed wetland treatment of tile drainage. NIWA Information Series No. 75, Hamilton NZ
- US Environmental Protection Agency. 2007. Standard operating procedure for phytoplankton analysis. US Environmental Protection Agency. 42pp.
- Waikato Enterprise Agency. 2010. *Recreation: Lake Hakanoa Walkway*. Retrieved from the Worldwide web on 29/09/10 http://www.huntly.co.nz/district-services/recreation
- Wetzel, R.G., Likens, G.E. (eds.). 1990. *Limnological Analyses*, 3rd edition. Springer-Verlag, New York. Pp. 147-174.
- Wilcock, R. J. 1986. Agricultural runoff, a source of water pollution in New Zealand? *New Zealand Agricultural Science* 20: 98–103.
- Wilcock, R.J., Nagels, J.W., Rodda, H.J.E. 1999. Water quality of lowland stream in a New Zealand dairy farming catchment. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research* 33: 683-696.
- Wheeler, D.M, Elliot, A.H. 2008. Examination of the need for an additional dairy source term for nitrogen in CLUES. In: Currie, L.D., Yates, L. (eds.). Carbon and nutrient management in agriculture. *Occasional Report No. 21*. Fertiliser and Lime Research Centre, Massey University. Palmerston North, New Zealand, pp. 438-447.